I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS  

 The petitioners are Ann Deutscher-Berg and Randy Berg 

(“the Bergs”), appellants in the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals’ 

unpublished decision – Alaska Nw. Indus. Inc. v. Deutscher, No. 

56633-8-II, 2024 WL 799638 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2024).  

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision that the 

party with superior title was not the prevailing party under 

Chapter 7.28 RCW and awarding attorney fees to Respondents 

(hereinafter “ANWI”) based on evidence of settlement 

negotiations; citations in this petition are to the opinion as 

attached in Appendix A. The Court of Appeals denied 

Petitioners’ timely motion for reconsideration, and their motion 

to publish, on April 26, 2024.  (App. B) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Whether it was error to consider settlement 

negotiations as evidence to establish liability for, and the amount 

of, attorneys’ fees contrary to this Court’s established precedent. 
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B. Whether under Chapter 7.28 RCW, as a matter of 

law, a party having superior title should be the prevailing party.  

C. Whether it was error to deny prescriptive easement 

claims even though all elements were, as a matter of law, 

established.  

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

 This case involves competing claims to title and use of real 

property on Ketron Island.  The Court of Appeals’ Opinion 

affirmed the trial court’s award of $425,000.00 to ANWI – and 

approved the trial court’s consideration of settlement 

negotiations as evidence for the liability and the amount thereof, 

and awarded attorneys’ fees on appeal with respect to the 

attorneys’ fees issue only (with ANWI requesting approximately 

$125,000.00 for appellate fees). Opinion, pp. 8, 23, 26-27. 

 ANWI filed their First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) on 

June 24, 2020.  ANWI alleged: 

• “Plaintiff owns and holds title to real property on 

Ketron Island[, and the] property at issue (“Premises 1”)1 

fronts the water, is on the northwest side of Ketron Island 
 

1 “Premises 1” is the subject ANWI property referenced by the 

Court of Appeals, and the trial court, as “Lot 006,” and herein 

the reference to “Lot -006” is synonymous with “Premises 1.” 
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on Morris Boulevard and has the following parcel 

identification number, 0119021006.”  CP 5-8 (¶ 1). 

 

• ANWI further alleged, “[f]or a period of less than 

10 years, Defendants have periodically trespassed upon 

the southern portion of Plaintiff’s Premises 1.  Among 

other things, Defendants periodically occupy a cabin on 

Premises 1, periodically drive upon Premises 1, 

periodically tear out and/or trim greenery on Premises 

1[.]”  Id. (¶ 5). 

 

• ANWI “demand[ed] [Deutscher-Berg] to cease 

trespassing upon Premises 1.”  Id. (¶ 6).  ANWI alleged 

they “own[]/hold[] title to Premises 1” in support of their 

ejectment claim. Id. (¶ 8). 

 

• ANWI claimed entitlement to injunctive relief 

“requiring Defendants to keep off Premises 1.” Id. (¶ 15). 

 

The Bergs’ Answer and Counterclaims (and affirmative 

defenses) were filed July 21, 2020, asserting among other things 

adverse possession and prescriptive easement claims. CP 9-48.  

ANWI, in its Answer to the Bergs’ Counterclaims regarding 

adverse possession, “[d]en[ied] that any part of Premises 1 is 

possessed and owned by, and with title held by the Defendants 

[sic] property.”  CP 213 (emphasis added).  In other words, 

ANWI denied any and all allegations and claims of adverse 

possession by the Bergs.  CP 211-19. Over a year later, and after 

extensive discovery, ANWI filed a Second Amended Complaint 
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(“SAC”) on September 16, 2021. CP 1421-26.  ANWI’s SAC 

restated and persisted in claiming that the Bergs had no property 

interest in any part of Lot -006.  ANWI never amended any of 

its claims regarding adverse possession in its pleadings.  Id. 

 ANWI asserted in sworn statements and testimony that 

they owned the entirety of Lot -006, continuing to do so 

consistently in the fall of 2021 and until trial. CP 818-22 (¶ 5, 6, 

9-11, and 18) (claiming the entirety of “Lot 006,” including the 

“small cabin/shack also,” and that the Bergs were “squatting” in 

the subject cabin, and that permission had not been granted); see 

also CP 1850-2015, and 2089-2175 (Deposition Transcript of 

Tiffany Lundgren, October 15 and 19, 2021, p. 49, ll. 24-25, p. 

50, ll. 1-14, p. 91, l. 25, p. 92, ll. 1-19, p. 146, ll. 18-25, p. 183, 

ll. 24-25, p. 184, p. 202, ll. 22-25, and p. 203, ll. 1-9) (testimony 

asserting that ANWI held title to the entirety of Lot -006). 

 Almost a year into the litigation, Tiffany Lundgren, in her 

personal capacity, stated “Plaintiffs do not dispute that 

Defendants have adversely possessed the cabin.”  CP 819.  

Despite this one mention of the cabin only, ANWI never 
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amended its pleadings or walked-back any claims in the FAC and 

the SAC until after trial commenced. 

 In September 2021, the Bergs were successful in obtaining 

summary judgment securing title to the cabin itself by way of 

adverse possession.  CP 1454-59; RP 147 (Trial Transcript, 

Volume 2, December 9, 2021) (“[T]he cabin, yes, that’s resolved 

by summary judgement[sic].”); RP 12-13 (Hearing Transcript, 

Volume 2, September 24, 2021) (“As pertains to the cabin at 

issue in this matter on the claim of plat titled adverse possession 

under Chapter 7.28 RCW, [the Bergs have] prevailed.”).   

 The trial court explicitly declined to resolve title to 

anything beyond the cabin itself on summary judgment.  CP 

1454-59; RP 11, 15-16 (Hearing Transcript, Volume 2, 

September 24, 2021) (The Bergs acquired title to the cabin by 

adverse possession on summary judgment, “[e]verything else is 

yet to be determined.”).  The trial court’s own words were that 

the Bergs “have prevailed as far as the Court’s concerned” on 

the adverse possession claim for the cabin.  RP 43 (Hearing 
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Transcript, September 10, 2021 at ll. 6-7, 18-19), emphasis 

added. 

 ANWI even expressly asserted in their Trial Brief that 

“[a]side from the cabin itself, Defendants’ adverse possession 

claim fails.”  CP 1713, 1722 (p. 3, ll. 15-18, 21-23; p. 12, ll. 17-

18), emphasis added.  ANWI’s Trial Brief continued to assert 

the Bergs did not have use of the cabin property and adjoining, 

existing roadways for ten (10) years, and that their use was not 

open and notorious – fact elements only finally conceded at trial 

by ANWI.  CP 1720, -22 (p. 10, ll. 17-18; p. 12, ll. 1-17). 

 On the second day of trial, ANWI’s counsel finally made 

the first unequivocal statement conceding that the Bergs acquired 

title by adverse possession to some portion of land beyond the 

walls of the cabin.  RP 146-49 (Trial Transcript, Volume 2, 

December 9, 2021). 

 The cabin was taxed as part of the Bergs’ Lot -002,2 with 

its size as 2.39 acres, by Pierce County since at least 1945.   

 
2 The Court of Appeals, and the trial court, referred to the 

Bergs’ subject parcel as “Lot 002,” and herein the Bergs’ 

subject parcel is referred to as “Lot -002.” 
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Exhibit 394.  The size of the recorded description of the Bergs’ 

Lot -002 is roughly 54,000 square feet, or just over 1.0 acre – as 

opposed to the taxed parcel size of 2.39.  Exhibit 335; Exhibit 

400.  The cabin remained on the Pierce County tax rolls as part 

of the Bergs’ Lot -002 for decades until ANWI made false 

representations to Pierce County to move the cabin improvement 

onto the tax roll for Lot -006 in 2020 – a day before ANWI filed 

suit.  Exhibit 56.  

 ANWI conceded all elements of prescriptive easement 

except whether the use was legally hostile.  RP 152-158 (Trial 

Transcript, Volume 3, December 9, 2021).  However, ANWI 

did concede the facts associated with the Bergs’ use being hostile 

for their simultaneous acquisition of title via adverse possession.   

 After ferry service to Ketron Island began in 1961, 

roadway access was used by the Bergs’ predecessors-in-interest 

for passenger vehicles to get to the Bergs’ Lot -002 and the cabin.  

The final approach always and only used by the Bergs and their 

predecessors for driving a passenger car to the subject cabin was 
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on both the “North Driveway” and “South Driveway” across Lot 

-006.  Exhibit 400; Exhibit 336. 

 Concurrent with their adverse possession of the cabin and 

surrounding property out of Lot -006, the Bergs used the 

footbridge they constructed north of the cabin and did so for 

ingress and egress to the cabin from where they parked just north 

of the footbridge, and for accessing the footpath they customarily 

used to go to and from the beach, tidelands and shoreline.  Id.; 

Exhibit 329.  Despite law and conceded facts to the contrary, the 

Court of Appeals’ Opinion affirmed the trial court’s denial of the 

Bergs prescriptive easement claims. Opinion, pp. 12-18. 

 On the graphic below the red boundary and green angled 

line-area depict the boundary of title acquired by the Bergs from 

out of Lot -006.  The blue “stick-person” is at the location of 

the footbridge built by the Bergs.  The blue “car” is at the 

location of the “cabin Driveway.” 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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 The Court of Appeals’ Opinion splits the simultaneous 

use in these locations despite the facts admitted by ANWI that 

the use was hostile.   

 Based on their superior title, the trial court’s judgment 

awarded the Bergs no less than approximately .75 acres (roughly 

33,000 square feet, with 200 feet of waterfront) from out of Lot 

-006 by way of adverse possession.  CP 3246 (at 1.30); Exhibit 

400.  This was a significant increase over the original size of the 

Bergs’ Lot -002 being roughly 54,000 square feet, or just over 

1.0 acre in size as recorded.  Exhibit 335; Exhibit 400.   

 The award of title to property out of Lot -006 more than 
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doubled the Bergs’ waterfront and approached a doubling of their 

title acreage. Despite this significant acquisition of property 

(both in size and value) by the Bergs because of superior title, 

the Court of Appeals’ Opinion affirmed the trial court 

determination that ANWI prevailed under Chapter 7.28 RCW. 

CP 3255-56; Opinion, pp. 20-23. 

V.  WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 
 

 Review should be accepted here because the Court of 

Appeals’ Opinion clearly conflicts with decisions of this Court, 

decisions of the Court of Appeals, and presents issues of 

substantial public interest this Court should decide. In re Coats, 

173 Wn.2d 123, 132–33 (2011); RAP 13.4. 

A. The Court of Appeals’ Opinion Conflicts With 

This Court’s Decisions Regarding Consideration of 

Settlement Communication as Evidence, Is an Issue of 

Substantial Public Interest, and Caused a Denial of 

Due Process. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4)) 

 

 The Court of Appeals’ Opinion affirming consideration of 

settlement and negotiation communications in determining 

liability for attorneys’ fees conflicts with this Court’s decisions.  

CP 4289, 4293; RP 28 (Hearing Transcript, April 29, 2022).  
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Under Chapter 7.07 RCW and ER 408, settlement 

communications should not be considered in any respect in 

determining any part of a party’s liability for attorneys’ fees. 

Svea Fire & Life Ins. Co. v. Spokane, P. & S. Ry. Co., 175 Wn. 

622, 627 (1933). It contradicts this Court’s decisions to consider 

these communications in any way as evidence in deciding 

liability for attorneys’ fees or the amount of an award: 

Reversal of the attorney fee award . . . is also warranted.  

. . .  Evidence of conduct in settlement negotiations, 

however, is inadmissible to prove liability for or invalidity 

of the claim or its amount. 

 

Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Assocs., LLC, 170 Wn.2d 495, 

507–08 (2010), emphasis added.  The Court of Appeals has also 

affirmed the same standard: 

Evidence of conduct or statements made in negotiations is 

not admissible to prove the validity of the claim or its 

amount. ER 408. [A Party’s] settlement conduct is not 

admissible, so the trial court did not abuse its discretion 

by not factoring it into the lodestar calculation. 

 

Ewing v. Glogowski, 198 Wn. App. 515, 522–23 (2017), 

(emphasis added); and see State Dep’t of Ecology v. Tiger Oil 

Corp., 166 Wn. App. 720, 751 (2012) (trial court did not err in 

striking declaration exhibit purporting to show rejection of 
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settlement counter-proposal because it “was inadmissible under 

ER 408”).   

 This Court in Humphrey left no doubt that in determining 

liability for, or the amount of, attorneys’ fees, “[e]vidence of 

conduct in settlement negotiations, however, is inadmissible to 

prove liability for or invalidity of the claim or its amount.”  In 

Humphrey the court clearly held that evidence relating to 

settlement conduct or statements was inadmissible for any 

purpose in determining liability for, or the amount of, an award 

of attorneys’ fees. 170 Wn.2d at 507-09. The failure to follow 

controlling legal authority is clear error. 1000 Virginia Ltd. 

P’ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 578 (2006). 

 Where an opposing party and their counsel intentionally 

disclose the settlement communications they believe favor them, 

the ability to prevent disclosure is lost.  The Bergs did not 

contradict the false and misleading statements presented by 

ANWI because it would have required them to submit 

information which is not allowed to be disclosed under Chapter 

7.07 RCW, ER 408 and the parties’ agreement to keep settlement 
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communications confidential.  Recourse against the party 

violating the privilege, related prohibitions and protections is 

limited.  Here the trial court provided no recourse, and instead 

admitted and considered the one-sided settlement information in 

support of the attorneys’ fees awarded to ANWI. 

 The trial court struck and sealed an inadmissible 

Declaration by ANWIs’ counsel filed April 28, 2021 in an Order 

Granting Motion to Strike, entered May 19, 2021, because it 

wrongfully included information about settlement negotiations. 

Nonetheless, the trial court in post-trial proceedings (in front of 

a different judge than the one that entered the May 19, 2021 

Order) directly contradicted this earlier Order by considering 

settlement and negotiation communications – even worse, they 

were considered as part of determining liability for, and the 

amount of, an award of attorneys’ fees. 

 In the alternative, even if settlement negotiations are 

admissible, then it is a clear violation of due process for only one 

party to be able to present a biased, one-sided version of 

settlement negotiations without the opposing party having any 
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opportunity to respond. The Bergs could not both challenge the 

inclusion of settlement negotiations, maintain the protections 

associated with those protected communications, and litigate the 

issue with submission of their own countervailing information. 

Thus, they were denied due process in contravention of Article I, 

section 3 of the Washington Constitution – “[n]o person shall be 

deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 

Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682, 688–89 (2019). 

B. The Court of Appeals’ Opinion Conflicts with 

the Decisions of this Court Regarding Statutory 

Interpretation and Construction, and Disregards 

Separation of Powers. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4)) 
 

 The Court of Appeals’ Opinion conflicts with the 

decisions of this Court and contradicts the intent of the 

Legislature. This Court has made clear there is a “vital separation 

of powers doctrine.” Brown v. Owen, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718 

(2009). Courts must give effect to the plain meaning of a statute 

as an expression of legislative intent, and carry out that intent. 

Jametsky v. Olsen, 179 Wn.2d 756, 762 (2014); AllianceOne 

Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389, 393 (2014) (a 

statute must be considered “within the context of the entire 
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statutory scheme”).  It is also an abuse of discretion to award 

fees based on untenable grounds. Chuong Van Pham v. City of 

Seattle, Seattle City Light, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538 (2007). 

 The Court of Appeals should not have added language or 

otherwise rewritten an unambiguous statute, even if it disliked 

the statutory language or its necessary effect. Cerrillo v. Esparza, 

158 Wn.2d 194, 201 (2006); . A “court must not add words where 

the legislature has chosen not to include them[,]” and must also 

construe statutes in a manner giving effect to all language and 

ensure no portion is rendered meaningless or superfluous. Rest. 

Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 674, 682 (2003). A 

court must pay “particular attention to the legislative purpose 

behind attorney fee provisions.” Guillen v. Contreras, 169 

Wn.2d 769, 777 (2010).  

 Here, the Court of Appeals’ Opinion ignores plain, 

controlling language, and reads language into Chapter 7.28 

RCW. RCW 7.28.083 must be read consistent with the entirety 

of Chapter 7.28 RCW. An adverse possession claim is provided 

under RCW 7.28.010, whereby the party with superior title may 
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have judgment in such action awarding possession and 

ownership.  

 RCW 7.28.120 provides that the “superior title … shall 

prevail.” Finch v. Matthews, 74 Wn.2d 161, 166 (1968), 

emphasis added. The Bergs established the superior title and 

“shall prevail.”  The Court of Appeals’ Opinion conflicts with 

this Court’s holding in Finch, and the plain language of the 

statute. 

 The Court of Appeals’ Opinion also fails to account for the 

language of RCW 7.28.083(1) which also contains language 

informing what “prevail” means: “[a] party who prevails against 

the holder of record title at the time an action asserting title to 

real property by adverse possession was filed, …, may be 

required to” reimburse the title holder and pay taxes.  The Bergs 

acquired title from the record title holder, ANWI, as measured 

by the record title “at the time” the action “was filed” by ANWI; 

thus, the Bergs should have prevailed as a matter of law, and it 

contravened the statute to conclude otherwise.   
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 RCW 7.28.083(2), which is not mentioned in the Court’s 

Opinion, references subpart (1) and thus connects “prevails” with 

the party that “acquired by adverse possession” property from 

out of the “property retained by the titleholder.” Subpart (2) of 

this statutory framework reinforces and further establishes the 

intent of the Legislature to have the prevailing party determined 

by whether a party acquired title or lost title to anything more 

than a nominal amount of real property.   

 The Legislature’s intent, and the language of the statute, 

leads to a predictable and objective method for determining a 

prevailing party. The outcome of any other claims (e.g., 

prescriptive easement) outside of title claims cannot be used to 

answer the “shall prevail,” “prevails” and “prevailing party” 

issue under Chapter 7.28 RCW.  See RCW 7.28.010, .120 and 

.083.  The Court of Appeals’ Opinion contravenes the statute 

and conflicts with this Court’s decisions. 

 Moreover, the Legislature did not use the term 

“substantially” in conjunction with the term “prevail,” “prevails” 

or “prevailing party” in Chapter 7.28 RCW.  Reading 
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“substantially” into RCW 7.28.083(3) conflicts with this Court’s 

decisions and is improper based on the plain language in RCW 

7.28.120 and RCW 7.28.083(1) and (2).  The statutory scheme, 

and proper deference to Legislative intent, prohibits the 

proportional analysis created by the Court of Appeals.    

 Had the Legislature intended for a proportional, 

“substantially prevailing”-standard it would have used that term 

– as it has explicitly shown it will when intending for there to be 

a proportional standard.  See, e.g., RCW 69.50.505(6); RCW 

4.84.370; RCW 7.71.035; RCW 64.35.115; RCW 9A.88.150(6). 

Where the Legislature uses certain statutory language in one 

instance, and different language in another, there is a difference 

in legislative intent. Guillen, 169 Wn. 2d at 776 (2010).  Based 

on the language of Chapter 7.28 RCW, “quantitative comparison 

is inappropriate” when the statute does not call for “balancing the 

comparative success of two parties with an equal statutory 

interest in attorney fees[,]” especially because it does not “fit 

with the language of the statute.” Id. 
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 “The prevailing party in a lawsuit is that party in whose 

favor judgment is entered.” Andersen v. Gold Seal Vineyards, 

Inc., 81 Wn.2d 863, 865 (1973); Eagle Point Condo. Owners 

Ass’n v. Coy, 102 Wn. App. 697, 706 (2000) (a prevailing party 

is one against whom no affirmative judgment is entered).  By 

this standard, the Court of Appeals’ Opinion is in obvious 

conflict with this Court’s decisions, other decisions of the Courts 

of Appeals, and the plain language of the statute. 

 ANWI cannot be considered the prevailing party for 

purposes of attorneys’ fees under Chapter 7.28 RCW – the only 

basis to award attorneys’ fees in this case.  The judgment in this 

case awarded title to the Bergs to land that ANWI sought to eject 

the Bergs from – and no affirmative judgment was awarded 

against the Bergs. Osborn v. Grant Cnty. By & Through Grant 

Cnty. Comm’rs, 130 Wn.2d 615, 630 (1996).

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