FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2024 2:50 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1031203

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANN R. DEUTSCHER and RANDALL BERG, both individually and as a marital community,

Petitioners,

v.

ALASKA NORTHWEST INDUSTRIES INC., a
Washington corporation, and GARY J. LUNDGREN, TDL
DEVELOPMENT, LLC a Washington limited liability
company; ALASKA-NORTHWEST INDUSTRIES, INC.,
a Washington corporation, RONALD SHECKLER and
JEAN SHECKLER, individually and as a marital
community,

Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

II. INTRODUCTION

It often is said that the Court of Appeals is an error correcting court¹ while the Supreme Court, as the highest policy-making judicial body in our state, is focused on the general state of the law and not on particular applications of it,² especially for unpublished appellate decisions like this which are not binding on anyone but the parties. *See* GR 14.1. The Petition here presents, at best, no more than a request for fact-specific error correction in this real property dispute based on factual assertions disassociated from how the trial court actually ruled or from the trial court's Findings of Fact (which the Bergs failed to challenge), coupled with assertions of the law that are contortions and mis-readings of the relevant statutes.

¹ See, e.g., Wade v. Rypien, No. 39172-8-III, 2024 WL 488409, at *2 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 8, 2024) (persuasive authority per GR 14.1).

² See Washington Appellate Practice Deskbook §27.11 (Wash. State Bar Assoc. 4th ed. 2016).

Nor does the unpublished Opinion run afoul of any substantial public interest. Petitioners have failed to meet their burden under any of the three bases upon which they seek review, RAP 13.4(1), (2), and (4). Review should be denied.

III. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue A. There is no basis in the record to support the Bergs' false assertions underlying Issue A. The trial court did not "consider settlement negotiations as evidence to establish liability for, and the amount of" attorney's fees awarded to ANWI. Instead, the trial court concluded that ANWI was the prevailing party entitled to its fees and costs (CP 3255) and then, five months later, the trial court determined the amount of fees and costs through Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("FF/COL") on ANWI's fee petition. CP 4288-4295. Contrary to the false assertions in Bergs' Issue A, the trial court specifically struck those portions of ANWI's declaration in support of its fee petition "that disclosed settlement discussions." CP 4294. The trial court specifically stated that it "did not consider facts presented [by ANWI] relating to unsuccessful settlement negotiations as such is not admissible in determining the amount of the fees requested." Opinion at 25, citing CP at 4290 n.1 (emphasis added).

Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that when determining the amount of fees to award, consideration of the time expended during settlement negotiations—unrelated to determining the entitlement to fees—is permissible under the "other purpose" language of ER 408. The claimed issue raised by the Bergs is from their imagination, not the record.

Issue B also is not based on a fair reading of this record or the law as to who is a prevailing party under RCW 7.28.083(3) when the adverse possession claim is inextricably linked with the prescriptive easement claim. First the appellate court correctly rejected the Bergs' tortured interpretation of the statute that would permit absurd results, including here where

(Footnote continued next page)

³ See Opinion at p. 21 (emphasis added):

the 8-day bench trial yielded the Bergs virtually no relief not already obtained pre-trial, a disparity of effort and result they continue to ignore.⁴

It would be inconsistent to interpret prevailing party in RCW 7.28.083(3) as a party who acquires title in an adverse possession action, no matter how small, regardless of the scope of their claim. Under that interpretation, parties could claim wide swaths of land via adverse possession, increasing litigation complexity and costs, prevail as to a relatively small section, and then be entitled to attorney fees. We reject such an interpretation. Instead, we apply the substantially prevailing party framework to RCW 7.28.083(3).

THE COURT: First of all, the prevailing party, and I just want to comment briefly on that. Look, this case was not about so much the woods and the trees around Ms. Berg -- Ms. Berg's cabin, it was more about the use of the beach and flat area. That's really the concern of the parties....Consequently, that is where the real focus is in this case.

Amended Brief at 63, quoting RP (4/29/22) 26:5-15 (emphasis added in the brief). *See also* Amended Brief at 64 (noting not only did the Bergs not achieve trial results on their primary focus, ANWI "defeated each and every claim" the Bergs presented at trial "and successfully ejected" them "from all of West Beach and the Driveways.").

⁴ See Amended Brief of Respondents/Cross-Appellants:

Issue B also ignores the scope of the Bergs' claims against ANWI which involved *both* adverse possession *and* prescriptive easement. Because the Bergs' prescriptive easement claims were, as the Bergs have plainly acknowledged and described in their own briefing on appeal, inextricably linked⁵ to their adverse possession claims, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that it was proper for the trial court to consider the prescriptive easement claims when making a determination as to the prevailing party under RCW 7.28.083(3), relying on *Workman v. Klinkenberg*, 6 Wn.App. 2d 291, 430 P.3d 716 (2018) and *Southwest Suburban Sewer Dist. v. Fish*, 17 Wn.App.2d 833, 488 P.3d 839 (2021).

⁵ Opinion at p. 14 (quoting Berg's own briefing which described their adverse possession and prescriptive easement claims as "inextricably linked"); and p. 23 (concluding that "the prescriptive easement claims are inextricably linked to the adverse possession claims….").

Issue C. The Bergs misleadingly imply they met their burden of proving the "open and hostile" use element for all their prescriptive easement claims. They did not come close.

The Bergs alleged claims for prescriptive easements over a large portion of ANWI's land: the North and South Driveways, the footbridge, the West Beach footpaths, the West Beach parking near the footbridge, the entirety of the "tidelands" and shoreline" that make up West Beach, and the small portion of the cabin driveway that intersects with the South Driveway that the Bergs did not acquire via concession by ANWI. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that ANWI's concession as to parts of the cabin driveway and the footbridge means only that the Bergs were relieved of their burden of proving "open and hostile" use as to that small portion of the cabin driveway. Based on the evidence and the trial court's unchallenged findings, the Bergs did not meet their burden of proving the "open and hostile" use element on their much larger land claims. Virtually all the Berg's efforts at trial were for naught.

IV. FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

ANWI and the Bergs own adjacent properties on Ketron Island in south Puget Sound. A cabin on the Bergs' property (the Berg property may be referred to herein as "Lot -002") has straddled the property line since it was built before 1940. Located exclusively on ANWI's property (the ANWI property may be referred to herein as Lot -006) are two driveways (the North and South Driveways) and the only low-bank beach on Ketron Island called "West Beach." To ANWI's dismay, in 2018 the Bergs claimed ownership and/or prescriptive easement rights in the Driveways and the entirety of West Beach. This forced ANWI to file this action to quiet title and eject the Bergs from Lot -006. The Bergs answered with seven counterclaims, including adverse possession and seeking to quiet title in themselves to not only the cabin but also to a significant portion of West Beach, to obtain prescriptive easements over the North and South Driveways, and to eject ANWI from said property.

Important to this appeal, long before trial ANWI conceded title to the cabin that straddled ANWI's property. But the Bergs persisted in proceeding to trial, seeking even more property (i.e., West Beach and the Driveways), property to which they were not entitled. Just before trial, ANWI conceded a small amount of additional property immediately adjacent to the cabin (the "curtilage" on one side) described by the trial court as a "generous boundary line proposed by ANWI."

The Bergs proceeded to trial believing they were entitled to a much larger portion of Lot -006, including title to a large swath of West Beach that stretched far north of the curtilage around the Berg cabin, the Driveways, and/or prescriptive easements over the entirety of West Beach and the Driveways. *See* CP 1591-1592 (Bergs' Trial Brief claiming title to portions of Lot-006 that had allegedly been used for parking, recreation

⁶ See also, FOF 1.20 (indicating the stipulation as to "curtilage somewhat close to the cabin....would not likely be supported by evidence that the defendants or the predecessor in interest acquired ownership in via adverse possession.").

and beach access); CP 641 (Ex. A, graphical depiction showing the portions of West Beach Bergs sought (unsuccessfully) to quiet title in); and RP (12/20/21) 962-967 and Tr. Exs. 400-B and 594-A (other exhibits depicting the vast portions of Lot - 006 Bergs claimed by adverse possession). This resulted in a trial where the Bergs achieved nothing more than had already been agreed to by ANWI before trial. In contrast, ANWI successfully defeated the Bergs' adverse possession and interrelated prescriptive easement claims, ejected the Bergs from West Beach and successfully quieted title in the North and South Driveways.

Based on these results, the trial court concluded that ANWI was the substantially prevailing party and that ANWI was entitled to its fees and costs pursuant to RCW 7.28.083(3), the amount of which would be determined later. After the parties resolved the remaining boundary line issues, the trial court determined the amount of fees and costs to award ANWI.

V. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. The Bergs Do Not Acknowledge That They Failed to Preserve Error and Therefore All of the Trial Court's Findings of Fact are Verities on Appeal.

This was a substantial evidence appeal by the Bergs after an 8-day bench trial where the court heard from 16 witnesses and reviewed over 100 exhibits. In their Petition for Review, the Bergs do not acknowledge that they failed to preserve error as to any of the trial court's FOF/CL except FF 1.9. Opinion 9-10. Due to their failure to "develop their argument as to any finding or explain why any finding is not supported by the record," all the findings of fact below are verities **recept** FOF 1.9, which the Court of Appeals found to be irrelevant to any issues raised by the Bergs. Opinion 10. The Bergs fail to acknowledge their failure to preserve error and that all of the FOF (CP 3241-3258; 4288-4295) are verities, supported by

⁷ Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. *Merriman v. Cokeley*, 168 Wn.2d 627, 631, 230 P.3d 162 (2010). "Without argument or authority to support it, an assignment of error is waived." *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

substantial evidence, which defeated not only their appeal, but also now their Petition for Review. Key FOF include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Much of the land ANWI stipulated had been acquired by Berg would not likely be supported by evidence. CP 3246 (FF: 1.20). Activities in these areas of thick vegetation was not readily visible or actually hostile to ANWI's ownership interest in Lot -006. CP 3246-47 (FF: 1.31; 1.33).
- Berg did not construct or maintain any fencing or boundary markers indicating assertion of hostile and exclusive possession of the disputed property. CP 3247-48; 3251-52 (FF: 1.34, 1.35).
- The Bergs' general use of West Beach (understood to be the *only* area on Ketron Island with low lying beach access) including parking and general recreation, and use of the access Driveways was consistent with and similar to the use of everyone who owned property on Ketron Island. Prior to 2018, ANWI and its predecessors in interest welcomed all who owned property on Ketron Island and their guests to access and use West Beach uninhibited for gatherings, barbeques, fishing, camping and vehicle property. Any person with connections to Ketron Islanders had historically been permitted and encouraged by the owners of Lot -006 to enjoy West Beach without any overt permission as a neighborly accommodation. CP 3248 (FF: 1.36 1.39)

B. The Opinion Does Not Conflict With Any Decisions in Either This Court or the Courts of Appeal. The Trial Court did not Consider Settlement Negotiations as Evidence in Determining the Amount of Attorney Fees to Award ANWI.

At the end of this bench trial, both parties sought their attorney fees and costs. CP 3255-56 (FOF 2.14). The court exercised its discretion and determined that ANWI was the substantially prevailing party and would be entitled to its fees but that the amount of those fees would be determined at a later date due, in part, to the need for the parties to submit briefing and argument about the amount of the fees. *Id.* Five months later, after the parties had worked on the language describing the new boundary line and new legal descriptions for the properties⁸, and submitted briefing on the fees issue, the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on ANWI's fee petition. CP 4288-4295.

⁸ This process took over three months to complete, from January 21, 2022 through April 7, 2022. CP 3396-3614.

As part of its fee petition, ANWI submitted a supporting declaration that included substantive settlement discussions. CP 3644-3947. The trial court granted the Bergs' motion to strike (CP 3998-4005) those portions of the ANWI declaration that included substantive settlement discussions as inadmissible under ER 408 and refused to consider such evidence in fixing the amount of ANWI's fee award. The trial court explained that, under ER 408, it could not consider the content or nature of specific settlement communications in ruling on ANWI's fee petition. RP (4/29/22) 32:5-17; RP (6/3/22) 17:5-10; 16:8-18 ("....the content of the settlement discussion, that was not considered by the Court....") *Id.* 17:5-7; CP 4294.

Despite this background, the Bergs persist in claiming that the trial court considered the stricken settlement discussions in determining whether ANWI was *entitled* to fees – which is patently false since the trial court had determined that ANWI was entitled to its fees five months before ANWI submitted its declaration in support of fees. The Bergs also

continue to insist that even where the trial court granted their motion to strike the offending portions of the ANWI declaration, the trial court disregarded its own order and considered the offending portions of the declaration when determining the amount of fees to award ANWI. It did not.

Further, even though Issue A is not supported by any evidence, the Bergs also assert, without basis, that the Opinion is contrary to *Humphrey Industries*, *Ltd. v. Clay Street Associates*, *LLC*, 170 Wn.2d 495, 242 P.3d 846 (2010) and *Ewing v. Glogowski*, 198 Wn. App. 515, 394 P.3d 418 (2017). It is not.

This case is nothing like *Humphrey* where the trial court there determined which party was liable for fees (*i.e.*, the entitlement to fees) expressly based, in part, on settlement conduct: a specific finding of fact that the plaintiff had rejected a pretrial settlement offer and a CR 68 Offer of Judgment. *Id.* at 508. Here, the trial court did *not* determine that ANWI was the prevailing party and would be awarded its attorney fees and

did not fix the amount of ANWI's fee award based on *any* substantive settlement negotiations or conduct. Instead, months after determining that ANWI was the prevailing party and would be entitled to its fees, as part of determining the amount of fees to award, the trial court considered "the time, effort, and resources expended in making [settlement] offers in an attempt to resolve this case." This is permissible under the "other purpose" of ER 408.

Likewise, the present case is nothing like *Ewing* where the trial court considered unreasonable conduct during the settlement negotiations to reduce the fee award. In other words, settlement conduct in *Ewing* was considered by that trial court to determine eligibility for fees. Here, the trial court struck the evidence of conduct during settlement negotiations on the Bergs' motion.

The Opinion correctly applied the law set forth in *Humphrey, Ewing,* and ER 408. Review is not warranted on Issue A.

C. The Opinion Accurately Applies RCW 7.28.083. The Bergs' Argument to the Contrary Requires a Strained Interpretation of RCW 7.28.083 and Ignores both the Scope of Their Claims Against ANWI and the Extent of Relief Afforded to ANWI.

The Bergs argue that they acquired "superior title" and are therefore entitled to be deemed the prevailing party under RCW 7.28.083; and further, that any other conclusion is contrary to that statute. This argument is incorrect and does not support review for two reasons.

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